THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

MAR 04 2015

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S. Jackson Kimball, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2013-CP-46-2930
Appellate Case No. 2014-001624

Mae Ruth Davis Thompson, Individually and as the appointed
Personal Representative of the Estate of Eula Mae Davis, Deceased Respondent,
v.

Pruitt Corporation d/b/a UHS-Pruitt Corporation; UHS-Pruitt Holdings,
Inc.; UHS of South Carolina-East, LLC; United Health Services of
South Carolina, Inc.; United Clinical Services, Inc.; United Rehab, Inc.;
Rock Hill Healthcare Properties, Inc.; Uni-Health Post Acute Care-Rock Hill,

ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err in denying the Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration?
 - a. The trial court erred in concluding that the Plaintiff cannot be bound by the Arbitration Agreement under the Adult Health Care and Consent Act.
 - b. The trial court erred in finding there was no agency between the Decedent and her son, Andrew Davis, based on common law principles.
 - c. The trial court erred in finding that the Decedent was not an intended third-party beneficiary of the agreement.
 - d. The trial court erred in concluding that the Plaintiff is not equitably estopped from denying an agency relationship between Decedent and Andrew Davis.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises out of a wrongful death and survival lawsuit filed on September 26, 2013 by Mae Ruth Davis Thompson, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Eula Mae Davis. (Complaint). Plaintiff sued Thompson Pruitt Corporation d/b/a UHS-Pruitt Corporation; UHS-Pruitt Holdings, Inc.; UHS of South Carolina – East, LLC; United Health Services of South Carolina, Inc.; United Clinical Services, Inc.; United Rehab, Inc.; Rock Hill Healthcare Properties, Inc.; and UniHealth Post Acute Care – Rock Hill, LLC d/b/a UniHealth Post Acute Care – Rock Hill (collectively referred to herein as “Defendants”).

The Decedent, Eula Mae Davis, entered UniHealth Post Acute Care – Rock Hill (“UPAC-Rock Hill” or “the Facility”) rehabilitation facility on or about January 11, 2011. (R. p. 40, ¶20). Prior to her admission, Eula Mae Davis’ son, Andrew Davis, executed various documents related to her admission on Ms. Davis’ behalf, including admissions paperwork containing an Arbitration Agreement. (R. pp. 300-304; R. p. 289, l. 20 – 290, l. 10; R. pp. 65-67) Although Eula Mae Davis had no power of attorney (“POA”), these documents were executed by Andrew Davis as the representative of Ms. Davis. Eula Mae Davis suffered from dementia prior to her death, and Andrew Davis would often assist her in paying her bills. (R. p. 288, ll. 12-21; R. pp. 298-299; R. pp. 115-143). Andrew Davis also testified that he would sign admissions documents for his mother when she went to hospital or other healthcare providers and that she was comfortable with this arrangement. (R. p. 286, ll. 14-25). Ms. Thompson was present with her brother and mother at the time the admissions documents at issue, including the arbitration agreement, were executed by Andrew Davis and she did not raise any objections. (R. pp. 300-304; R. p. 289, l. 20 – 290, l. 10).

It is alleged that on January 12, 2011 at approximately 1:10 a.m., the morning following her admission, the Decedent was discovered face down on the floor by her bed. It is further alleged

that Ms. Davis was unresponsive and attempts to revive her were unsuccessful. (R. p. 40, ¶¶23-25). Plaintiff asserts that the Defendants' failure to take proper precautions to recognize and prevent a fall by Eula Mae Davis was the cause of her death, which the Defendants deny. (R. p. 40, ¶27).

Plaintiff Thompson, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Eula Mae Davis, commenced this action by filing a Notice of Intent to Sue on May 15, 2013 (R. pp. 13-35). Thompson filed her Summons and Complaint against the Defendants on September 26, 2013. (R. pp. 36-44). On November 4, 2013, the Defendants filed their Answer to the Complaint and raised certain defenses related to the signed arbitration agreement at issue in this appeal. (R. p. 49, ¶45).

Following the filing of the Summons and Complaint and the Defendants' Answer, the parties engaged in discovery with the agreement from Plaintiff's counsel that this discovery would not act as a waiver of Defendant's Motion to Compel Arbitration. On February 4, 2014, the Defendants filed their Motion to Compel Arbitration. (R. pp. 51-53).

On or about May 8, 2014, the trial court denied the Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration for the reasons addressed within this appeal. (R. pp. 1-6) The Defendants timely filed a Motion to Reconsider the denial of the motion. (R. pp. 202-211) On July 1, 2014, following a hearing, the trial court denied the Motion to Reconsider and affirmed its denial of the Motion to Compel Arbitration. (R. pp. 7-12) The Defendants filed their Notice of Appeal with the Court of Appeals on July 25, 2014 and with the York County Circuit Court on July 29, 2014. The Defendants served the Notice of Appeal on the Respondent on July 25, 2014. (R. pp. 218-219) This appeal followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The question of arbitrability of a claim is an issue for judicial determination unless the parties provide otherwise. *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 596, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001). This determination is subject to de novo review. *Gissel v. Hart*, 382 S.C. 235, 240, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2009). Nevertheless, a circuit court's factual findings will not be reversed on appeal if any evidence reasonably supports the findings. *Aiken v. World Fin. Corp. of S.C.*, 373 S.C. 144, 148, 644 S.E.2d 705, 707 (2007).¹ Both federal and state policy favor arbitrating disputes. *Heffner v. Destiny, Inc.*, 321 S.C. 536, 537, 471 S.E.2d 135, 136 (1995) (“The policy of the United States and this State is to favor arbitration of disputes.”); *Cox v. Woodmen of World Ins. Co.*, 347 S.C. 460, 464, 556 S.E.2d 397, 399 (Ct. App. 2001) (“There is a strong presumption in favor of the validity of arbitration agreements because of the strong policy favoring arbitration.”). Therefore, all doubts regarding the scope of an arbitration clause must be resolved in favor of arbitration. *Carolina Care Plan, Inc. v. United Healthcare Servs., Inc.*, 361 S.C. 544, 550, 606 S.E.2d 752, 755 (2004). Questions of law, including statutory interpretation, are reviewed de novo. *Town of Summerville v. City of N. Charleston*, 378 S.C. 107, 110, 662 S.E.2d 40, 41 (2008) (citation omitted).

¹ There appears to be some conflict between these two standards of review as “[d]e novo review permits appellate court fact-finding, notwithstanding the presence of evidence supporting the trial court's findings.” *Lewis v. Lewis*, 392 S.C. 381, 390, 709 S.E.2d 650, 654–55 (2011).

LAW/ARGUMENT

- I. **The trial court erred in denying the Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration.**
 - a. **The trial court erred in concluding that the Plaintiff cannot be bound by the Arbitration Agreement under the Adult Health Care and Consent Act.**

The trial court ruled that the Plaintiff could not be bound by the Arbitration Agreement under the Adult Health Care Consent Act (S.C. Code Ann. § 44-66-10 *et. seq.* (2002)) (“the Act”). In reaching this decision, the court relied on the recent Supreme Court opinion in *Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, 407 S.C. 346, 755 S.E.2d 450 (2014).² Because this decision does not preclude a party from establishing the validity of an arbitration agreement under the Act through common law principles, the trial court erred in denying the Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration.

Under the Act, where an adult is “unable to appreciate the nature and implications of [her] condition and proposed health care, to make a reasoned decision concerning the proposed health care, or to communicate that decision in an unambiguous manner,” certain individuals, including the patient’s adult children, are may consent on behalf of an incapacitated patient. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 44-66-20(8); 44-66-30(A) (2002). *See also Coleman*, 407 S.C. at 351, 755 S.E.2d at 453. In the instant case, the evidence revealed that Eula Mae Davis suffered from dementia prior to her death. (R. pp. 115-143; R. p. 288, ll. 12-21). Similarly, the Decedent’s son, Andrew Davis, would often assist his mother in paying her bills. (R. pp. 285-287). Mr. Davis also testified that he would sign admissions documents for his mother when she went to the hospital or other healthcare providers and that she was comfortable with this arrangement. (R. p. 286, ll. 14-25). Because Ms.

² The *Coleman* opinion was published on March 12, 2014, the day before the initial hearing on the Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration in this matter.

Davis lacked a power of attorney and was unmarried, it is also uncontroverted that no individual had greater statutory authority under the Act than Andrew Davis for making decisions on behalf of his mother. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 44-66-30(A) (2002) (setting forth the statutory priority list for healthcare decisions); (R. p. 286, ll. 12-13; R. p. 287, ll. 10-11) (noting that the Decedent did not have anyone as POA and was unmarried at the time of her death). Thus, the Act conferred authority on Mr. Davis to make decisions concerning his mother’s healthcare.³

The trial court held that there could be no agency relationship under the Adult Healthcare Consent Act because the Arbitration Agreement is not a healthcare document covered under the Act. (R. pp. 1-6) (citing *Coleman*, 407 S.C. 346, 755 S.E.2d 450). Under the common law doctrine of merger,⁴ however:

The general rule is that, in the absence of anything indicating a contrary intention, where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction, the courts will consider and construe the documents together. The theory is that *the instruments are effectively one instrument or contract*.

³ The trial court did not make a specific finding that the Decedent was “unable to appreciate the nature and implications of [their] condition and proposed health care, to make a reasoned decision concerning the proposed health care, or to communicate that decision in an unambiguous manner.” S.C. Code Ann. § 44-66-20(6)(2002). However, it is clear from the trial court’s order that it found the Act applicable to the instant case. (R. pp. 1-6).

⁴ In *Coleman*, the Supreme Court discusses the doctrine of merger under the heading “Estoppel.” 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455. Presumably this is because the appellant in that case titled their merger argument as such. As the Court in *Coleman* implicitly recognized in discussing the “common law doctrine of merger” and enumerating its requirements, merger is a legal doctrine separate from estoppel. *See also* 17A Am. Jur. 2d *Contracts* § 379 (2004) (noting that merger of documents means that they are considered “in the eyes of the law, one contract or instrument” and are “transaction[s] constituting a contract”). Arbitration agreements must be construed in accordance with the general principals of contract law and agency law that would apply to any other contract. *Herron v. Century BMW*, 387 S.C. 525, 531, 693 S.E.2d 394, 397 (2010), *vacated sub nom. Sonic Automotive, Inc.*, ___ U.S. ___, 131 S.Ct. 2872, 179 L. Ed. 2d 1184 (2011), *reinstated*, 395 S.C. 461, 719 S.E.2d 640 (2011). To the extent the Court disagrees with this interpretation, the Appellant would incorporate the arguments in this section in its argument on estoppel, *infra*, by reference.

Coleman, 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (citing *Klutts Resort Realty, Inc. v. Down Round Dev. Corp.*, 268 S.C. 80, 88, 232 S.E.2d 20, 24 (1977)) (emphasis added).

In *Coleman*, the Supreme Court refused to construe the admissions agreement and arbitration agreement as a single document. The Supreme Court specifically held that the documents were “executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction.” *Coleman*, 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455. However, the Court also found that an anti-merger clause in the admission agreement demonstrated an intention by the parties that the documents not merge. *Id.* Therefore, the documents were to be construed separately and the arbitration agreement could not fall within the Act. *Id.*; *Klutts*, 268 S.C. at 88, 232 S.E.2d at 24 (holding that documents executed at the same time by the same parties for the same purpose and in the course of the same transaction merge but only “in the absence of anything indicating a contrary intention”).

In the instant case, the agreements exhibit no such anti-merger clause. In *Coleman*, the anti-merger clause noted by the Supreme Court read:

This Agreement, including all Exhibits hereto, *and the Arbitration Agreement* between the Facility and the Resident, if the parties sign one, supersede all other agreements, either oral or in writing between the parties, and contain all of the promises and agreements between the parties. Each party to this Agreement acknowledges that no representations, inducements, or promises have been made by any party or anyone acting on behalf of any party, that are not contained in this Agreement *or in the Arbitration Agreement*. This Agreement may be amended only by a written agreement signed on behalf of [...]

407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (emphasis added). The Court noted that this clause demonstrated the “separatedness” of the documents on its face. *Id.* The documents executed by Andrew Davis not only lack an anti-merger clause, but clearly indicate an intention that all the documents, including the Arbitration Agreement, be construed as one.

In the instant case, there is no anti-merger clause as in *Coleman*, and the Admissions Agreement indicates no intention that the Arbitration Agreement be treated separately from the other documents which are part of the admissions packet. In fact, the Admission Agreement for the Facility contains the following language:

- I. This Agreement shall be construed, governed and enforced under the laws of the State of South Carolina. This Agreement *together with all exhibits* is the exclusive statement of the terms and conditions between the parties with respect to the matters set forth herein, and supersedes all prior agreements, negotiations, representations, tender documents, and proposals, written and oral with respect to the subject matter hereof. Variance from, or additions to, the terms and conditions of this Agreement in any written notification from Patient/Resident shall be of no effect.

(R. p. 76) (emphasis added). By its plain language, the Admission Agreement treats the other signed documents as exhibits which are part of the admission contract.

Because all these documents were executed at the same time (January 11, 2011), by the same parties (UPAC-Rock Hill and Andrew Davis on behalf of Eula Mae Davis), for the same purpose (for her admission and care at the Facility), and during the course of the same transaction, the documents merged and the Arbitration Agreement is valid as a part of the Admission Agreement, which Mr. Davis had the authority to sign on behalf of his mother under the Act. Unlike in *Coleman*, there is no anti-merger clause in this case. Therefore, the Arbitration Agreement joined with the other admissions documents to form a single contract, and the trial court erred in denying the defendant's Motion to Compel Arbitration.

- b. The trial court erred in finding there was no common law agency between the Decedent and her son, Andrew Davis.**

The trial court also erred in holding that the Decedent's son, Andrew Davis, was not authorized to sign his mother into UPAC-Rock Hill, despite testimony that established Mr. Davis had taken control of Decedent's affairs with her consent. The validity of the Arbitration

Agreement in this case must be determined in accordance with the general principles of contract law and agency law that would apply to any other contract. *Herron v. Century BMW*, 387 S.C. 525, 531, 693 S.E.2d 394, 397 (2010), *vacated sub nom. Sonic Automotive, Inc.*, ___ U.S. ___, 131 S.Ct. 2872, 179 L. Ed. 2d 1184 (2011), *reinstated*, 395 S.C. 461, 719 S.E.2d 640 (2011). Andrew Davis had taken over many of his mother's affairs without objection by her and thus had become a general agent for her. *See R&G Constr., Inc. v. Lowcountry Reg'l Transp. Auth.*, 343 S.C. 424, 433, 540 S.E.2d 113, 118 (Ct. App. 2000) ("When a principal, by any such acts or conduct, has knowingly caused or permitted another to appear to be his agent, either generally or for a particular purpose, he will be estopped to deny such agency to the injury of third persons who have in good faith and in the exercise of reasonable prudence dealt with the agent on the faith of such appearances.") (R. pp. 285-287); (R p. 298, l. 7 – p. 299, l. 10). Moreover, Defendants relied upon Mr. Davis' representations that he was authorized to sign Decedent into the home by accepting Decedent as a patient at the Facility and providing her care. There was no objection by anyone to his signing the paperwork, and he represented he was authorized to do so.

The trial court also failed to find an apparent agency relationship was established based upon the evidence presented. An apparent agency is established when the purported principal has represented another to be her agent by either affirmative conduct or conscious and voluntary inaction and there is reliance upon the agency representation with a corresponding change in position as a result. *Watkins v. Mobil Oil Corp.*, 291 S.C. 62, 67, 352 S.E.2d 284, 287 (Ct. App. 1986); *ZIV Television Programs, Inc. v. Associated Grocers, Inc. of South Carolina*, 236 S.C. 448, 453, 114 S.E.2d 826, 828 (1960). "The apparent authority of an agent results from conduct or other manifestations of the principal's consent, whereby third persons are justified in believing the agent is acting within his authority." *R & G Constr.*, 343 S.C. at 433–34, 540 S.E.2d at 118. "Such

authority is implied where the principal passively permits the agent to appear to a third person to have the authority to act on his behalf.” *Id.* at 434, 540 S.E.2d at 118. “Agency may be implied or inferred and *may be proved circumstantially by the conduct of the purported agent exhibiting a pretense of authority with the knowledge of the alleged principal.*” *Id.* (emphasis added).

In the present case, Eula Mae Davis allowed, passively or otherwise, her son Andrew Davis to not only sign her into the Facility, but also to handle multiple other financial affairs for her. The Plaintiff, Ms. Davis’ daughter, testified that her brother, Andrew Davis, was responsible for all of her mother’s financial affairs, business dealings, and that her brother was the one who would sign documents for her. (R. pp. 298-299). He had done this for several years without his mother ever manifesting to him that he did not have the authority to make such decisions or sign things on her behalf. (R. pp. 285-287; 290); (R. p. 298, l. 7 – p. 299, l. 10). Moreover, Mr. Davis admitted he visited the Facility and felt like it was an appropriate place for his mother. When asked specifically if he signed the paper work on behalf of his mother, Mr. Davis stated “I probably did” and that he remembered doing so. (R. p. 290, ll. 3-7.) Also, when asked, he stated that his mother was “all right with [him] signing documents for her.” (R. p. 291, ll. 2-4).

The Plaintiff, Ruth Mae Thompson, was present and witnessed her brother signing the documents on her mother’s behalf. She did not voice any objection or give any indication to the Facility that her brother was not authorized to sign the documents. In fact, based on her previous testimony, she expected her brother to sign the documents when her mother was admitted and would have expected him to sign other contracts on their mother’s behalf. (R. p. 300-301). Thus, Andrew Davis had the apparent authority to handle his mother’s affairs in general, as well as her admission into the nursing home, specifically. *See Pee Dee Nursing Home v. Florence Gen. Hosp.*, 309 S.C. 80, 419 S.E.2d 834 (Ct. App. 1992) (“The doctrine of apparent authority provides that

the principal is bound by the acts of its agent when it has placed the agent in such a position that persons of ordinary prudence, reasonably knowledgeable with business usages and customs, are led to believe the agent has certain authority and they in turn deal with the agent based on that assumption. . . . [T]he concept of apparent authority depends upon manifestations by the principal to a third party and the reasonable belief by the third party that the agent is authorized to bind the principal.”). Therefore, the trial court erred in denying the Defendants’ Motion to Compel Arbitration.

c. The trial court erred in finding that the Decedent was not a third-party beneficiary of the agreement.

The trial court ruled that the Decedent could not be bound to the Arbitration Agreement as a third-party beneficiary because there was never a valid contract. This was error.

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