THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

MAR 02 2015

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

S. Jackson Kimball, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2013-CP-46-2930  
Appellate Case No. 2014-001624

Mae Ruth Davis Thompson  
Individually and as the Personal  
Representative of the Estate of  
Eula Mae Davis, Deceased

.....

Respondent,

v.

Pruitt Corporation d/b/a/ UHS-Pruitt  
Corporation; UHS-Pruitt Holdings, Inc.;  
UHS of South Carolina-East, LLC;  
United Health Services of South Carolina,  
Inc.; United Clinical Services, Inc.,  
United Rehab, Inc.; Rock Hill Healthcare  
Properties, Inc.; Uni-Health Post Acute

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

Appellants rely primarily on R & G Construction, Inc. v. Lowcountry Regional Transportation Authority, 343 S.C. 424, 433, 540 S.E.2d 113, 118 (Ct. App. 2000). R & G Construction, presented a very different set of facts than the current case. In R & G Construction, the designated executive director of a regional transportation company entered a contract with a construction contractor for work on premises operated by the transportation company. 343 S.C. at 434, 540 S.E.2d at 118-19. The circuit court found there was some evidence that the executive director had apparent authority to enter into

---

<sup>3</sup> See, e.g. ZIV Television Programs, Inc. v. Associated Grocers, Inc., of S.C., 236 S.C. 448, 453, 114 S.E.2d 826, 828 (1960) (finding apparent authority requires "a representation by the principal"); Pee Dee Nursing Home, Inc. v. Florence Gen. Hosp., 309 S.C. 80, 84, 419 S.E.2d 834, 837 (Ct. App. 1992) (noting apparent authority "depends upon manifestations by the principal").

contracts on the transportation company's behalf. Id. Unlike Appellants's arguments, the R & G Construction court found that the transportation company (i.e. the purported principal) "represented to others that [purported agent] had the authority to enter into the contract." Id. at 435, 540 S.E.2d at 119. The transportation company conceded that it expressly named the purported agent as the company's executive director and the transportation company's employee confirmed the executive director's position to the third party. Id.

Appellants also cite language from R & G Construction indicating that apparent authority may be conferred "where the principal passively permits the agent to appear" to have authority. 343 S.C. at 434, 540 S.E.2d at 118. This language is taken from Genovese v. Bergeron, 327 S.C. 567, 490 S.E.2d 608 (Ct. App. 1997), which is also distinguishable from the present case. In Genovese, a tenant who failed to pay her rent argued that a property manager, acting with authority granted by the landlord, agreed to permit the tenant to terminate her lease without penalty. Id. at 571, 490 S.E.2d at 610. This Court found evidence of apparent authority since the parties agreed that the property manager was the landlord's agent. Id. Apparent authority based on passive conduct or inaction does not permit a nursing home to bind an unaware nursing home resident with diminished mental capacity to an arbitration agreement signed by a non-agent family member.<sup>4</sup>

---

<sup>4</sup> Other jurisdictions have reached this same conclusion. See e.g., Munn v. Haymount Rehab. & Nursing Ctr., Inc., 704 S.E.2d 290, 296 (N.C. App. 2010) (concluding home resident could not make representations sufficient to confer apparent authority since she was "not responsive" and unable "to speak or communicate" when agreement was signed); Forest Hill Nursing Ctr., Inc. v. McFarlan, 995 So.2d 775, 782 (Miss. App. 2008) (citing fact that resident "was not present at the time of signing" as support for concluding nursing failed to establish apparent agency to support arbitration agreement);

Even this Court in R & G Construction acknowledged apparent authority is limited to instances where a purported principal “intend[s] to cause the third person to believe the agent is authorized to act for him, or he should realize his conduct is likely to create such belief.”<sup>5</sup> However, Appellants’s argument based on R & Construction relies exclusively on alleged representations made by Son. See Appellants’ Br. at 10 (“he represented he was authorized” and Appellants “relied upon Son’ representations”). R & G Construction offers no support for Appellants’s position, and Appellants make no effort to comply with the apparent authority requirements outlined in R & G Construction.

To the extent Appellants’s reference Mother in their agency argument, they rely on Mother’s failure to act as a basis for conferring apparent authority. Appellants allege Mother failed to object to Son’s actions and “allowed, passively or otherwise” for the son to sign the admission paperwork. Appellants’ Br. at 11. Appellants seem to suggest Mother had a duty to speak or otherwise act to prevent Son from signing admission documents or to advise Appellants that Son was neither Mother’s conservator, guardian,

---

Ashburn Health Care Ctr., Inc. v. Poole, 648 S.E.2d 430, 433 (Ga. App. 2007) (finding no apparent authority in resident’s husband where nursing home failed to prove resident “knew about the arbitration agreement [or] authorized her husband to sign the document”).

<sup>5</sup> R & G Construction makes this point several times. For example, apparent authority “focuses on the principal’s manifestation to a third party that the agent has certain authority.” 343 S.C. at 432, 540 S.E.2d at 117 (citing Rickborn v. Liberty Life Ins. Co., 321 S.C. 291, 468 S.E.2d 292 (1996)). Also, the “concept of apparent authority depends upon manifestations by the principal to a third party.” R & G Construction, 343 S.C. at 432, 540 S.E.2d at 118. Additionally, “[a]pparent authority must be established upon manifestations by the principal, not the agent.” Id. (citing Shropshire v. Prahalis, 309 S.C. 70, 419 S.E.2d 829 (Ct. App. 1992)). Finally, “[t]he proper focus in determining a claim of apparent authority is not on the relationship between the principal and the agent, but on that between the principal and third party.” R & G Construction, 343 S.C. at 432-33, 540 S.E.2d at 118 (citing Vereen v. Liberty Life Ins. Co., 306 S.C. 423, 412 S.E.2d 425 (Ct. App. 1991)).

nor attorney in fact. Appellants's argument suffers from at least two fatal flaws. First, there is no evidence that Mother was present when Son signed admission paperwork or was even aware of the signing process as it happened. Son's deposition indicates that Mother was being transported to the nursing home while he was signing documents, and he visited her in her room after the signing process was over. (R. p. 294, lines 4-22; R. p. 295, lines 6-20).

Second, Appellants's agency argument is at odds with their position on the South Carolina Adult Health Care Consent Act. Appellants' agency argument faults Mother for failing to recognize the likely appearance of Son signing the admission paperwork and in failing to advise Appellants that Son had no legal authority. However, in an effort to apply the Act to Respondent's claim, Appellants argued Mother met the Act's definition of a person "unable to consent." Appellants Br. at 6-7. As indicated in the Act and as quoted in Appellants's brief, a person is only unable to consent if she is "unable to appreciate the nature and implications of the patient's condition and proposed health care, to make a reasoned decision concerning the proposed health care, or to communicate that decision in an unambiguous manner." Appellants Br. at 6 (quoting S.C. Code Ann. § 44-66-20(8)). Thus, at one point, Appellants argue Mother could not understand her surroundings, make reasoned decisions, or communicate her desires clearly. Just a few pages later, Appellants argue Mother conferred apparent authority on Son by failing to do the very things Appellants acknowledge she was incapable of doing.

Beyond this strained reasoning, Appellants do not point to any representations Mother made to Appellants regarding Son or his alleged capacity to bind her to a contract. As such, Appellants failed to meet their burden of establishing an agency

relationship under a long string of South Carolina cases including R & G Construction. The circuit court properly found Appellants failed to produce evidence of representations or manifestations by Mother sufficient to confer apparent authority on Son. (R. p. 6). Appellants' brief fails to cite any evidence from which apparent authority may be derived. Therefore, the circuit court's order refusing to find an agency relationship should be affirmed.

**C. Mother was not a third-party beneficiary of any alleged agreement between Appellants and Son.**

As a fallback position, Appellants argue Son entered an Arbitration Agreement with the nursing home and Respondent is bound to the Agreement since Mother was a third-party beneficiary. There are three reasons why this Court must affirm the circuit court's order refusing Appellants's third-party beneficiary argument: (1) there can be no third-party beneficiary in the absence of a valid contract and there is no valid contract here between Mother and Appellants or between Son and Appellants; (2) even if Son was a party to the Arbitration Agreement, Mother was not a third-party beneficiary to the Agreement because the Agreement's parties did not intend to benefit her *as a third-party*; and (3) Mother never consented to arbitration and a non-consenting person cannot be bound to arbitrate.

**1. There is no valid contract to which Mother can be a third-party beneficiary.**

Appellants's third-party beneficiary argument must fail because there can be no third-party beneficiary in the absence of a valid contract. (R. p. 5) (citing Hardaway Concrete Co., Inc. v. Hall Contracting Co., 374 S.C. 216, 225, 647 S.E.2d 488, 492 (Ct. App. 2007) (considering a potential third-party beneficiary only after determining the

existence of a valid and enforceable contract)). Since Mother did not sign the Arbitration Agreement and Son lacked actual or apparent authority to enter the Arbitration Agreement on Mother's behalf, there was no contract to arbitrate between Mother and Appellants. The evidence also shows there was no valid contract between Son and Appellants. Appellants did not intend for Son to be a party to the Arbitration Agreement in his individual capacity. Throughout the agreement, Son is identified only as "Patient/Resident Representative," never in his individual capacity. Son signed the agreement in a signature block labeled "Patient/Resident Representative." (R. p. 84).

The only language purporting to bind Son to the Arbitration Agreement in his individual capacity is on the final page in nondescript type below the signature block. Id. Appellants's intent to include Son only as Mother's representative is clear in Appellants' filings with the circuit court. In an affidavit attached to Appellants's Motion to Compel Arbitration, UPAC-Rock Hill's administrator indicated that Son signed admission paperwork including the Arbitration Agreement only "**as the representative**" of Mother. (R. p. 66 ¶ 5) (emphasis added). There is no contract, thus there can be no third-party beneficiary.

**2. Appellants did not intend for Mother to benefit from the Arbitration Agreement as a third party.**

Additionally, the third-party beneficiary doctrine does not apply to the Arbitration Agreement because it was not the purported parties' intent to benefit Mother as a third-party. The third-party beneficiary doctrine is an exception to the rule barring enforcement of a contract by or against a non-party. Windsor Green Owners Ass'n v. Allied Signal, Inc., 362 S.C. 12, 17, 605 S.E.2d 750, 752 (Ct. App. 2004). The exception only applies if the contracting parties intended to create a direct benefit in a "third person." Id. The

purported parties' intent is a material element of the third-party beneficiary doctrine. The parties must recognize the attempted beneficiary as a non-party and intend to benefit that person as a non-party. To determine Appellants's intent for the Arbitration Agreement, this Court must look beyond Appellants's current statements to the moment when the purported contract was formed. Laser Supply & Servs., Inc. v. Orchard Park Assocs., 382 S.C. 326, 334, 676 S.E.2d 139, 143-44 (Ct. App. 2009).

When the Arbitration Agreement was presented to Son on January 11, 2011, Appellants intended to make Mother a party. For the many reasons discussed above, Appellants failed to effectuate this intent by obtaining the assent of Mother or one authorized to act on her behalf. Appellants only seek to deem Mother a third-party because their efforts to label her a party do not comply with South Carolina contract law. The letter and spirit of that law would be severely undermined if Appellants succeed. Appellants's intent to make Mother a party to the contract means Appellants cannot prove a material element required to bind Respondent to the agreement as a third-party beneficiary.

The circuit court properly concluded "there was never intended to be a contract between [Appellants] and Andrew Davis upon which to premise a 'third party beneficiary' theory." (R. p. 11). The circuit court's conclusion is supported not only by the South Carolina law cited above, but also by rulings from other jurisdictions. See e.g., Dickerson v. Longoria, 995 A.2d 721, 742 n. 21 (Md. 2010) (rejecting nursing home's third-party beneficiary argument when combined with home's attempt to bind resident to contract as party and finding "inconsistency belies [home's] arguments") Barbee v. Kindred Healthcare Operating, Inc., No. W2007-00517-COA-R3-CV, 2008 WL 4615858

at \*10 n. 3 (Tenn. App. Oct. 20, 2008) (rejecting nursing home's attempt to label resident's relative as party and resident as third-party beneficiary because "this argument has already been rejected by this court").

### **3. Mother never consented to arbitrate claims against Appellants.**

Appellants's third-party beneficiary argument is also flawed because it would force a person to enter arbitration for claims for which she never consented to arbitrate. South Carolina contract law generally precludes enforcement of a contract's terms against a person failing to manifest assent. Laser Supply & Servs., Inc., 382 S.C. at 334, 676 S.E.2d at 143-44. South Carolina authority does indicate that a non-signatory can enforce or be bound by an arbitration provision in some limited instances. Pearson v. Hilton Head Hosp., 400 S.C. 281, 288-89, 733 S.E.2d 597, 600-01 (Ct. App. 2012) (citing Int'l Paper Co. v. Scwabedissen Maschinen & Anlagen GMBH, 206 F.3d 411, 416-17 (4th Cir. 2000)). Pearson relies heavily on the Fourth Circuit's reasoning in International Paper, which acknowledged that "a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which he has not agreed so to submit." 206 F.3d at 416. Notwithstanding the federal and state policies favoring alternative dispute resolution, arbitration "is a matter of consent, not coercion." Volt Information Scis., Inc., 489 U.S. at 479.

While Pearson recognized that a person "can agree to submit to arbitration by means other than personally signing," none of the doctrines Pearson discussed apply to Mother. 400 S.C. at 288, 733 S.E.2d at 600 (citing Int'l Paper, 206 F.3d at 416). Alternative means of assenting to arbitration include assumption of an existing contract, the signature of a person properly acting as another's agent, and conduct by an individual

inconsistent with denying arbitration sufficient to apply the equitable doctrine of estoppel. Pearson, 400 S.C. at 289, 733 S.E.2d at 601 (citing Thompson-CSF, S.A. v. Am. Arbitration Ass'n, 64 F.3d 773, 776 (2d Cir. 1995)). Each of these doctrines require affirmative conduct by the person to be bound to arbitration by which the person either expressed her desire to arbitrate or attempted to enforce a portion of the contract such that avoiding the contract's arbitration requirement would be inequitable.

Mother did neither. Her diminished mental capacity precluded conduct expressing a desire to assent and neither she nor Respondent have attempted to enforce the Arbitration Agreement's terms. A person cannot be forced into arbitration by the independent conduct of others. Considering only the elements of the third-party beneficiary doctrine is an "incomplete" analysis. Drury v. Assisted Living Concepts Inc., 262 P.3d 1162, 1166 (Or. App. 2011). A court must also consider whether the alleged third-party somehow manifested assent. Id. Otherwise, "the contracting parties have waived the beneficiary's right to a jury trial without her consent." Id. at 1166 n. 5. Not even Pearson's broad scope of arbitration permits this result.<sup>6</sup>

The final portion of Appellants's argument in the third-party beneficiary section of their brief argues Respondent is bound to arbitrate her claims because they are "inextricably intertwined" with Son's claims. Appellants' Br. at 14-15 (citing Long v. Silver, 248 F.3d 309 (4th Cir. 2001)). This argument is premised on the notion that Son

---

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